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)

INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of a business decision by the owner (Oak Grove Towers Associates) of an apartment building in Minneapolis (Oak Grove Towers) to discontinue direct participation in the federal housing program. Specifically, in 1997, the owner exercised its rights (1) to prepay its HUD​-insured section 236 mortgage and (2) to decline extension of its Housing Assistance Payments contracts (HAP) contracts with HUD. The gravamen of Plaintiffs' complaint is that the owner--with HUD's approval--accomplished the termination of the HAP contracts without the requisite one year notice to tenants, thereby allegedly depriving the tenants the opportunity to avoid the termination. Plaintiffs sued the owner and HUD for declaratory and injunctive relief. Plaintiffs and the owner then settled their differences resulting in the Plaintiffs receiving most (if Missouri ex rel. Nixon v. Craig, 163 F.3d 482, 485 (8th Cir. 1998). Therefore, Plaintiffs cannot avail themselves of the "capable of repetition, yet evading review" exception to the mootness doctrine. The court should dismiss the inadequate notice aspect of this case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

B.
HUD HAS NOT VIOLATED 12 U.S.C. SECTION 4113. Plaintiffs allege that HUD violated the requirements of 12 U.S.C. Section 4113 in its implementation of "enhanced" vouchers. However, the vouchers offered the plaintiff tenants in this case are authorized under Title II of Public Law 104-204, Departments of Veterans Affairs and Housing and Urban Development, and Independent Agencies Appropriations Act, 1997 (September 26, 1996). In Title II of Public Law 104-204, Congress specifically addressed vouchers for tenants of projects undergoing mortgage prepayment or voluntary termination of participation in project based Section 8 subsidies:

“[N]otwithstanding any other provision of law, subject to the availability of appropriated funds, each low-income family, and moderate-income family who is elderly or disabled or is residing in a low-vacancy area, residing in the housing on the date of prepayment or voluntary termination, and whose rent, as a result of a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of the prepayment, exceeds 30 percent of adjusted income, shall be offered tenant-based assistance in accordance with section 8 or any successor program, under which the family shall pay no less for rent than it paid on such date: Provided further, That any family receiving tenant-based assistance under the preceding proviso may elect (1) to remain in the unit of the housing and if the rent exceeds the fair market rent or payment standard, as applicable, the rent shall be deemed to be the applicable standard, so long as the administering public housing agency. finds that the rent is reasonable in comparison with rents charged for comparable unassisted housing units in the market...: Provided further, That the tenant-based assistance made available under the preceding two provisos are 'in lieu of benefits provided in subsections 223(b), (c),and (d) of the Low-Income Housing Preservation and Resident Homeownership Act of 1990....”

See Exhibit 1. In other words, HUD has not violated 12 U.S.C. Section 4113, because the special form of Section 8 voucher assistance offered eligible tenants affected by mortgage prepayment and termination of project based Section 8 assistance was authorized and mandated by Public Law 104-204, "notwithstanding any other provisions of law" and "in lieu of" the benefits provided under 12 U.S.C. § 4113.

Under Title II of Public Law 104-204, eligible tenants are offered tenant-based Section 8 vouchers. The statute established a minimum tenant's portion of rent of no less than the portion paid by the tenant at the time of prepayment.-, In response to "a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of the prepayment," if the rent exceeds the Section 8 program fair market rent established by "existing program rules and procedures," the value of the tenant-based voucher created under Public Law 104-204 may be computed using the higher rent as the "applicable standard, so long as the administering public housing authority finds that the rent is reasonable in comparison with rents charged for comparable unassisted housing units in the market." In this case, HUD did no more than implement the mandate of Congress under Public Law 104-204. Plaintiffs have not alleged that HUD violated Public Law 104-204. To the extent Plaintiffs believe they have not been provided with sufficient personal rent subsidies, their quarrel is not with HUD, but with Congress. Therefore, the court should enter summary judgment for HUD on this issue.

[However, see Public Law 105-276; Veterans Affairs and HUD Appropriations Act, 1999 and discussion below.]
C.  HUD NOTICE PIH 98-19 DID NOT VIOLATE ANY LAW. Plaintiffs allege in their supplemental complaint that Section 11(B) of HUD notice PIH 98-193 (Exhibit 2) is "contrary to the statutory provisions for enhanced' vouchers...." However, a fair reading of Section 11(B) reveals that it is a reasonable notice and explanation to HUD staff and program participants of the Congressional mandate of Public Law 104-204. Paragraph 11(B), informs HUD staff and program participants that:

“The law provides the special FMR and payment standard to cover the owner's rent increase after the prepayment/voluntary termination, which must be effective within one year of the date of the prepayment/ voluntary termination.... [T]he special FMR and payment standard rules do not apply to any subsequent rent increases [emphasis added].”
Under the rental voucher program, the payment standard is not adjusted to cover an owner's [subsequent] rent increase. The family must decide whether to move to a less expensive unit or pay for the increase in rent out of pocket.

Exhibit 2 (emphasis added). This directive is fully based upon the requirements of Public Law 104-204:

“[N]otwithstanding any other provision of law, subject to the availability of appropriated funds, each low-income family, and moderate-income family who is elderly or disabled or is residing in a low-vacancy area, residing in the housing on the date of prepayment or voluntary termination, and whose rent, as a result of a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of prepayment [emphasis added], exceeds 30 percent of adjusted income, shall be offered tenant-based assistance in accordance with section 8 or any successor program, under which the family shall pay no less for rent than it paid on such date: Provided further, ...

Pub. Law 104-204, Exhibit 1 (emphasis added). Thus, it is legislation itself', not an administrative decision on the part of HUD, that limits the special fair market rent to account for "a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of prepayment."
Since it passed Pub. Law 104-204 in September, 1996, Congress twice has had the opportunity to clarify its intent with respect to limits on special fair market rents for purposes of prepayment vouchers, but Congress provided no additional instruction to HUD or extension of the applicability of the special fair market rent beyond the first year of rent increase. [There is no published legislative history explaining Public Law 104-204]
First, in October 1998, Congress continued the program but did nothing more. See Title II of Public Law 105-65 (October 27, 1997), Departments of Veterans Affairs and Housing and Urban Development, and Independent Agencies Appropriations Act, 1998 (Exhibit 3).

Then, in 1998, Congress again continued the program, but did not alter the one year postmortgage prepayment limitation. Title II of Public Law 105-276, Veterans Affairs and HUD Appropriation Act, 1999 (October 21, 1998)(Exhibit 4). Public Law 105-276 states, in part:

For activities and assistance to prevent the involuntary displacement of low-income families, the elderly and the disabled because of the loss of affordable housing stock, expiration of subsidy contracts...or other changes ... and for other purposes, $10,326,542,030, to remain available until expended: Provided, That of the total amount provided under this heading, $9,600,000,000 shall be for assistance under the United States Housing Act of 1937-for use in connection with expiring or terminating section 8 subsidy contracts, for enhanced vouchers...as provided under [Public Law 104​204]..., Provided further, that in the case of enhanced vouchers provided under this heading, if the income of a family receiving assistance declines to a significant extent, the percentage of income paid by the family for rent shall not exceed the greater of 30 percent or the percentage of income paid at the time of mortgage prepayment....”

Exhibit 4. The significance of the 1999 appropriations Act, Pub. Law 105-276, is that Congress took the opportunity to address a specific issue which it did not address in Public Law 104-204-​the impact of declining family income on the amount of subsidy-​but elected not to change or clarify the language of Public Law 104-204 which HUD, in PIH 98-19 [PIH 98-19 is a directive explaining the implementation of "Tenant-Based Rental Vouchers or Certificates for Eligible Residents of-Preservation Eligible Projects Approved for Prepayment of the Mortgage."], had interpreted as requiring a one year limitation on special fair market rent. In other words, in October 1998--four months after HUD had issued 98-19--Congress did not alter HUD's interpretation of P.L. 104-204 as it pertained to the one year limitation on special fair market rent. Plaintiffs further claim that, in issuing PIH 98-19, HUD reached its affirmative duty under 42 U.S.C. Section 3608(e) (5) to further federal fair housing goals.' (See generally, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, The Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 3604 et seq.) However, while 42 U.S.C. Section 3608(e)(5) requires the Secretary to act affirmatively [The Secretary of Housing and Urban Development shall​
(5) administer the programs and activities relating to housing and urban development in a manner affirmatively to further the policies of this subchapter....], it does not require the Secretary to act illegally:

When a court reviews an agency's construction of the statute which it administers, it is confronted with two questions. First, always, is the question whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue. If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress.

Chevron, U.S.A. , Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Counsel, Inc, et al., 467 U.S. 837, 842-843 (1984). Such is the case here. While one might wish for clearer legislative syntax, the legislative intent of Pub. Law 104-204 is subject to reasonable discernment. The special rent feature of the tenant-based Section 8 assistance is available to tenants affected by mortgage prepayment and limited to rent increases occurring within the first year after mortgage prepayment ("each [eligible family] whose rent, as a result of a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of prepayment")." [All quotes in parenthesis from Public Law 104-204]  The special feature addressing a first year rent increase for the housing unit occupied by the eligible family is that, if the first year post-mortgage prepayment increase exceeds the fair market rent formula normally applicable to Section 8 assistance, and the eligible family wishes to remain in the affected unit, the value of the voucher may be based upon the higher rent, so long as the higher rent is reasonable in comparison with the rents of comparable unassisted housing units on the market ("[A]ny family receiving tenant-based assistance under the preceding proviso [i.e., tenant-based Section 8 assistance to eligible families affected by an rent increase occurring within the first year of prepayment) may elect to (1) remain in the unit of the housing and if the rent [as increased no later than one year after the date of prepayment] exceeds the fair market rent, the rent [as increased no later than one year after the date of prepayment] shall be deemed to be the applicable standard"). If Congress had intended that the special fair market rate formula be available to the affected tenants in perpetuity, it could have simply omitted the phrase "as a result of a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of the prepayment," but it did not. If Congress had wanted to address an incorrect interpretation of the statute by HUD, it could have done so, when it revisited the issue of assistance to tenants affected by mortgage prepayment in Public Law 105-276, Veterans Affairs and HUD Appropriations Act, 1999 (October 21, 1998), but it chose not to do so.

[The Supreme Court has] held that "the construction of a statute by those charged with its execution should be followed unless there are compelling indications that it is wrong, especially when Congress has refused to alter the administrative construction." ...Such deference "is particularly appropriate where, as here, an agency's interpretation involves issues of considerable public controversy, and Congress has not acted to correct any misperception of its statutory objectives."  CBS Inc. v. Federal Communications Commission, 453 U.S. 367, 382 (1981)(citations omitted). Thus, while 42 U.S.C. Section 3608(e)(5) requires HUD to further fair housing goals affirmatively, implicit in the statute is that it is applicable to circumstances where HUD has the discretion to implement a range of options, some of which may further fair housing goals.'

In the present case, by contrast, HUD, in issuing PIH 98-19, was not exercising a range of options, but implementing statutory mandates which did not provide HUD with the option to provide the voucher benefits desired by the plaintiffs. Title VIII does not mandate specific actions, nor does it require that tenants affected by mortgage prepayment be forever subsidized at special rates of assistance. "Title VIII ... simply requires that HUD enforce its regulations and administer its programs on the basis of equal opportunity and free from discrimination." McGrath v. HUD, 722 F.Supp. 902, 908 (D. Mass. 1989). HUD did not violate its affirmative duty under Title VIII in this case. To the extent Plaintiffs hypothesize a disproportionate impact on a protected class by the HUD Section 8 voucher program established for tenants affected by prepayment of HUD insured mortgages, their quarrel is again not with HUD, but with Congress and the legislation HUD is obligated to implement. Therefore, the supplemental complaint fails to state a claim.

In the typical case where 42 U.S.C. Section 3608(e)(5) is applied successfully against the Secretary of HUD, the Secretary is not implementing legislative mandates, but is dealing within his range of administrative discretion with respect to program participants. See, e.g., American Disabled for Attendant Programs Today, et al. v. HUD, No. 98-1308, 1999 WL 116278 (3d Cir., March 5, 1999)(alleged HUD failure to review or investigate building owner compliance with building design requirements for handicap access or adaptability); Little Earth of United Tribes, Inc. v. HUD, 878 F.2d 236 (8th Cir. 1989)(HUD decision to foreclose defaulted mortgage); NAACP v. Secretary of HUD, 817 F.2d 149 (1St Cir. 1987)(alleged HUD failure to leverage a grant [CDBG) program to force remedial action by the City of Boston).
